FILED SID J. WHITE OCT 8 1992 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By-Chief Deputy Clerk

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL G. LOVETTE,	*
•	*
Appellant,	*
	*
v.	*
	*
STATE OF FLORIDA	*
	*
Appellee.	*
	*
* * * * * * * * * * * *	*

CASE NO. 78,202

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR INDIAN RIVER COUNTY, FLORIDA (Criminal Division)

> Clifford H. Barnes, Esquire Florida Bar No. 0329681 The Historic Sunrise Theater 117 South Second Street Suite 202 Fort Pierce, Florida 34950 (407) 466-8400 (407) 466-6321 (FAX) Counsel for the Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the defendant in the trial court. He will be referred to as Appellant or by name in this Brief.

The Record on Appeal is consecutively numbered beginning on Page 1 with the opening of the Trial. The sentencing proceedings by the trial judge are prepared separately, however, and are included in the second of two volumes entitled "Pretrial Conference, Motions to Suppress and Sentencing " and "Motion to Suppress, Motion in Limine and Sentencing" respectively. All references to the trial judge's sentencing hearing will be by the symbol (S) followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses. The rest of the record will be referred to by the symbol (R). Although the record was supplemented with an additional Motion to Suppress, it will not be referred to.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On May 10, 1989, Appellant and his co-defendant, Thomas Wyatt, were indicted by an Indian River County Grand Jury on fifteen (15) charges (R 1613 - 1619). Included were four (4) counts of First Degree Murder. The alleged victims were Frances Edwards, William Edwards, Matthew Bornoosh, and Cathy Nydegger (R 1613-1614). The remaining counts charged Sexual Battery of Ms. Edwards; kidnapping of William Edwards, Frances Edwards and Bornoosh; Robbery with a Firearm of money from Domino's Pizza and a Domino's Pizza shirt from Mr. Bornoosh; Grand Theft of the money, an automobile, and a firearm; Arson of the same automobile, and Possession of a Firearm by a Convicted Felon (R 1614 - 1618).

Count IV, the Nydegger murder, and Count XIV, the Possession of Firearm charge, were subsequently severed (R 1881, 1884). Also, Appellant and his co-defendant Wyatt were granted separate trials (R 1895). On Appellant's motion, the trial court granted a change of venue to Pinellas County (R 1934 - 1935).

At trial, the State introduced a model of the Domino's Pizza store in Vero Beach, Florida, depicting the store as it was in the early morning hours of May 18, 1988 (R 379, 382 - 384). Robert Clark, an ex-employee, testified that he was in the store at 10:50 p.m. on May 17 (R 395). Since the door was locked, a lady let him in (R 398). Clark identified pictures of the victims as the persons he saw working that night, and testified that when he left "shortly after eleven", nothing was suspicious (R 400 - 403).

Robin Christy, who owned a competing pizza store and was a former police officer, testified that she and a friend drove by about 11:45 p.m. and became suspicious because the lights were out before the usual closing time of 1:00 a.m. (407 - 411) She drove into the parking lot of the store and observed a "fancy" red and white car and two cars with Domino's signs (R 412 - 413). She was able to see a back light on, but could not see anyone inside, including in the front part of the store (R 414). Although she testified she could have seen anyone in the front area, she clarified on cross examination that she meant she could have seen them if they were standing (R 414, 423). Lisa Powell, who was with Christy, testified that she did not see anyone in the front of the store despite adequate lighting, but also admitted that beneath the 2 1/2 - 3 foot counter, one's view would be blocked (433 -437).

Daniel Lawing, a customer of Domino's testified that he ordered a pizza about 11:00 p.m. (R 440). When the pizza didn't arrive within the thirty minute guarantee and he was unable to get an answer by phone, he drove to the store (R 441 - 442). He arrived at midnight (R 442). After finding the door unlocked and the store darkened except for a light in the back, he reported his findings to the police (442 - 446).

The first officer on the scene, Lt. D'Agosto, testified that when he arrived the front room was dark except for a hanging lighted sign four feet above the counter, and the back room was "dimly lit" by two light sources (R 451 - 454). Sgt. Pete Huber

arrived just after D'Agosto and took photos of the three victims as they were originally discovered (R 472 - 473). One, Exhibit 9, was taken with the existing light at the time (R 473). Photos taken later depicted the office area with a cash drawer on the desk, money pouches and wrappers on the floor, open desk drawers, and blood droplets in the drawers and on the floor (R 511 - 512). There was a bloody shoe print on the office floor which matched Mr. Edwards' shoe (R 513). Also admitted was a photo of Mr. Bornoosh's ring in the trash basket in the bathroom and Mrs. Edwards' clothes and shoes behind the bathroom door (R 514 - 515).

It was determined that Mr. Bornoosh's shirt was missing from the scene, but six hundred and thirty-five dollars in cash was found in an unlocked office drawer, and forty dollars in cash was found in a money bag on top of the office desk (R 536 - 543). Store manager Rick Lindsay testified that Mr. Edwards, the assistant manager, was trained to give up the money during a robbery, and had a key and combination to the fifteen minute timedelay safe under the front counter (R 595 - 605). He further stated that based on the receipts found in the store, Mr. Bornoosh would have been ready to deliver Lawing's pizza about 11:15, (R 632). Mr. Lindsay said that the appearance of the office indicated that Mr. Edwards was making up twenty dollar bags for the next Finally, Lindsay testified that one thousand one day's drivers. hundred and fifty-three dollars had been stolen from the safe (R 634).

The injuries to the victims were described by Dr. Hobin, the Medical Examiner, (R 639). Mr. Edwards had received a gunshot to the upper chest and a gunshot to the front of the head, both from close or contact range (R 646 - 649). Hobin agreed that a "reasonable possibility" was that Mr. Edwards was kneeling when he was shot (R 659 - 660). The head wound would have immediately rendered Mr. Edwards unconscious according to Hobin, but the chest wound would not necessarily have done so (R 705, 649).

Mrs. Edwards was shot once to the back of the head from unknown range which would have immediately rendered her unconscious (R 662 - 664). Hobin again agreed that it was a "reasonable possibility" that she was kneeling when she was shot (R 665). Hobin also identified bumping and scraping on Mrs. Edwards' knee and shin which was not more that two hours old before her death (R 666).

Mr. Bornoosh received a gunshot to his left ear from contact range and a "glancing kind of injury" to the top of his head from another shot (R 672 -676). Either injury would have immediately rendered Bornoosh totally disabled (R 707).

Dr. Hobin testified that the blood in the office, if Mr. Edwards' was not consistent with having been produced by the gunshot (R 682). He agreed that a prior head injury could have been concealed by the gunshot wound (R 682). Later, the blood in the office was eliminated as having come from Wyatt, Lovette, Mrs. Edwards, or Bornoosh. Mr. Edwards could not be eliminated as the donor (R 971 - 972).

Dr. Hobin was unable to determine as to the order of the injuries to the victims, or proximity in time to one another (R 706 - 708).

During the early morning of May 18th, authorities were alerted to a burned 1983 Cadillac Seville parked in a remote area of Highway 60 (R 714 - 731). Later the same morning Mr. Bornoosh's Domino's shirt was found on a stretch of road between Domino's and the burned car (R 753 - 755). Later it was determined that the shirt contained hair matching Appellant and Bornoosh (R 990 - 991). It was determined that the car was stolen on May 16 in Jacksonville, and that the owner had left a .38 handgun in the car (R 758 - 774).

At a motel forty miles west of Vero Beach, in Yeehaw Junction, it was discovered that occupants in a red and white Cadillac had checked in on May 16th or 17th (R 788 - 790). The registrant stated there were two in his party, and signed the name "Billy Mathis". He wrote the address of "1012 Boulevard, Martinville, Virginia." (R 803). Appellant's fingerprint was identified on the registration card (R 843 - 845). On a phone book removed from the motel room of "Billy Mathis," police identified the print of Tommy Wyatt (R 838 - 843).

Gerald Wilkes, an FBI firearms expert, testified that the bullets recovered from the Domino's store were all consistent with having been fired from the same .38 caliber firearm (R 861 - 872). Phone records received from Wyatt's and Appellant's relatives showed collect calls to them on May 17 from the Yeehaw Junction

motel and from a Vero Beach bar, all before 9 p.m. (R 879 - 885). A witness who was at the bar identified appellant as the older of the two men who had a conversation with him on the night of May 17th (R 887 - 890). The witness testified that Appellant told him they were on vacation from North Carolina and that he was "showing the kid the ropes" (R 891). Appellant told the witness he was driving a Seville (R 891). The witness also remembered that one of the men mentioned that his sister had given birth recently (R 893). It was proven that Appellant's sister had had a baby on May 13 (R 896).

A truck driver who traveled Highway 60 contacted authorities and picked Appellant and Wyatt out of a photo lineup (R 900 - 908).

Appellant's handwriting was identified on a May 18, Motel registration card in Brandon which contained the name "Billy Mathis" and address of "1012 Boulevard, Columbia, South Carolina" (R 902 - 956).

Dan Nippes, the chief criminalist at the Indian River Crime Lab, testified that he found seminal fluid in the sex crimes kit performed on Mrs. Edwards, which was later identified by a DNA expert as coming from Wyatt (R 980, 1046). Nippes states that there was no evidence of fluid from Appellant, and that he would have expected to find proof of same if Appellant had had sexual intercourse with her (R 999 - 1000). Nippes further testified that he found no blood, seminal fluid, or gunpowder residue on Bornoosh's shirt (R 1000 - 1001). He predicted that if Appellant had fired a gun into the bathroom while wearing that shirt, he

could have found gunpowder residue ricocheted from the tile walls (R 1002).

On July 13, 1988, Boyd Lovette rented a motel room in Statesville, North Carolina. Recognizing the name, the clerk called police (R 1081 - 1082). Appellant surrendered to authorities after Boyd Lovette called his room and urged him to do so (R 1081 - 1089).

A North Carolina officer, Mr. Foster, testified that after an FBI agent read Appellant his Miranda warnings, Appellant agreed to an interview (R 1092 - 1000). After recounting his and Wyatt's trip to Florida and theft of the car in Jacksonville, Appellant advised that the two rented a motel room near Vero Beach (R 1103 -1104). They drank at a bar in Vero Beach and then headed back to the motel (R 1104). Appellant advised that on the way back, the two decided to stop at the Domino's "to rob the place, we needed money" (R 1104 - 1105), According to Appellant the store was almost closed: "... we started to return to the car and the man opened the door and told us to come on in ... We both pulled our guns and told them we wanted money..." (R 1105). Appellant claimed that after being advised of the safe's time delay, he kept the white male near the safe and Wyatt took the white female and "Puerto Rican" male into the back room out of his sight (R 1105). He and the white male remained near the safe until it opened (R 1105). Prior to this, Appellant could not see or hear anything in the back expect for some moaning sounds (R 1106). After obtaining the money he called to Wyatt, who came to the front and took the

white male to the back in order to "lock all of them in the closet" (R 1105 - 1106). Appellant said that he tried to see from the front where Wyatt was putting the people but that they were out of his line of sight (R 1106).

As soon as Wyatt got to the back of the store with the white male and disappeared, Appellant heard 3 - 4 quick pistol shots (R 1107). Wyatt came running out and the two men fled in the Cadillac (R 1107). Appellant asked Wyatt if he had shot anyone and Wyatt responded "yes." At that point in the interview, Appellant stated "I never had no idea he was going to shoot nobody." (R 1107). According to Appellant, he and Wyatt were drunk during the incident (R 1108 - 1109).

At Wyatt's request, Appellant threw the murder weapon out of the car window (R 1111). On their way to Tampa, the car overheated and they burned it. They then were picked up by a trucker and were able to make their way to another motel (R 1112 -1113).

Captain Blanton then testified that he and Captain Dubose arrived in Statesville while Appellant was being interviewed by Foster and the FBI agent (R 1119 -1120). Blanton advised him of his Miranda rights and Appellant recounted essentially the same facts he had told Foster, but added that Wyatt had thrown him a Domino's shirt to wear while he waited by the safe (R 1121 - 1131).

Captain Blanton recalled asking Appellant how Mr. Edwards' blood ended up on the office floor, (R 1131). Appellant claimed that Wyatt had hit the manager with a gun (R 1131). Blanton seemed to recall that Appellant stated that this incident happened in the

office while Appellant, Wyatt, and the manager were there together (R 1131 - 1132). Blanton then testified that he showed Appellant photos of the store and that from where Appellant said he was standing at some point in time, he could have seen the bathroom door and inside the bathroom, (a distance of 27 feet), and could have heard sounds in the back (R 1134 - 1136, 1140). Blanton also stated that Appellant later admitted seeing Wyatt put the victims "in the closet" (R 1138). Blanton admitted on cross examination that there were "plenty" of areas in the back that would be out of Appellant's sight from the spot Blanton indicated that Appellant was at the point where he could see the bathroom (R 1139). He also agreed that from the area where the safe was, one could not see into the back of the store (R 1141). Appellant advised Blanton he never saw Mrs. Edwards naked or being raped (R 1139).

Captain Dubose recalled an important part of Appellant's statement quite differently than Blanton. Regarding Wyatt striking Mr. Edwards, Dubose remembered Appellant stating that it occurred "right after the robbery started" (R 1162 - 1163). Appellant never said that Wyatt was in the office (R 1163 - 1164). Appellant did admit going in the office himself after learning of the safe's time delay, and prior to being given a Domino's shirt (R 1159). Dubose also testified that Appellant claimed he asked Wyatt what had happened, and when told, he asked why. Wyatt responded "we were there too long they could identify us" (R 1154). A four page statement written by Dubose and adopted by Appellant was admitted into evidence (R 1158 - 1162).

After a hearing and over Appellant's objection, the trial court allowed the state to present testimony of Dr. Robert Berland, Appellant's court-appointed confidential expert (R 1165 - 1230). Dr. Berland testified that Appellant admitted to him "that he heard the Wife pleading with the codefendant ... he looked back and called the codefendant out to see what was happening ... and saw the manager's wife on the floor without her pants ..." (R 1231). According to Dr. Berland, Appellant at some point "saw the codefendant with the gun aimed and the codefendant fired four shots..." (R 1231 -1232).

Captain Blanton was recalled by the State. He testified that the office was the only area in the store where blood was found other than where the victims were discovered (R 1263). He also recalled that during the end of Appellant's interview, Appellant said he realized he would be charged with robbery and first degree murder (R 1265).

The defense did not present any witnesses in the guilt phase of the trial.

During deliberations, the jury requested a "transcript of the forensic psychologist" (R 1431). The jury was returned to the courtroom whereupon the court reporter reread Dr. Berland's testimony to them (R 1432 - 1433). The jury then expressed a desire to have the testimony "in writing," but settled on hearing it read again (R 1434). No further requests were made by the jury, and they returned verdicts of guilty as charged on each count (R 1434 - 1438).

The penalty phase began with Appellant waiving all statutory mitigating factors other than the "catch-all" provision (R 1450 - 1451).

Early in the penalty phase Captain Blanton testified over defense objection that during the early stages of the investigation "we all agreed... obviously these were not amateurs" (R 1465 -1466). The State proved that Appellant and Wyatt had escaped from a prison road detail in North Carolina, where Appellant had been incarcerated for burglary and larceny (R 1473, 1487 - 1488).

Over Appellant's objection the State proved that after leaving the road detail, Appellant broke into a house and stole a car and firearm (R 1477 - 1486).

The State also established that after the escape Appellant and Wyatt traveled to Greenville, South Carolina, where on May 14th they robbed a man at gunpoint of his wallet and car and locked him in the trunk (R 1433, 1489 - 1491). The victim was able to free himself when the two abandoned the car 2 - 3 minutes later (R 1491). Appellant received a life sentence for those crimes (R 1494 - 1495).

Finally, the State presented evidence that on May 16th Appellant and Wyatt committed an armed robbery of a Taco Bell in Holly Hill, just outside of Daytona (R 14740. Appellant received a life sentence for this crime as well (R 1496 - 1497).

Appellant called six witnesses in the penalty phase. His Mother, Mrs. Cheek, testified that Appellant was born in Wilkes County, North Carolina, at the foot of the Blue Ridge Mountains (R

1502). He was raised in a house without indoor plumbing (R 1503). His father was abusive to the family, and was an alcoholic (R 1504). One afternoon, when Appellant was six or seven, his father used a shotgun to herd the family into the outhouse (R 1504). He forced them to remain in the outhouse until about three in the morning (R 1504). Mrs. Cheek testified that to Appellant's father the bottle came first ... "He never cared for his family" (R 1504). Appellant's Mother and Father were divorced when he was young, and he lived with his Mother until about the age of 13 or 14 (R 1505). Appellant introduced pictures of himself during these time periods (R 1507 - 1508). Mrs. Cheek stated that she and Appellant had remained close over the years (R 1508). She expressed her love for her son and asked the jury to spare his life (R 1509).

Appellant's younger sister, Donna Blevins, confirmed the abuse and told of other examples of the Father's drinking and violence (R 1512). She also stated that she and Appellant were close and expressed her love for him (R 1513). Blevins stated that, as a child, Appellant made A's and B's in school (R 1513).

Ms. Jane Lovette testified that she was married to Appellant's Uncle, Boyd, and had known Appellant almost all her life (R 1515). She stated that he was "very close" to her children and herself and that "he's like a brother, good friend" (R 1516). She stated that Appellant's execution would be very hard for her family to take, and expressed a plea for his life (R 1517).

Ms. Lovette's 16 year old daughter, April, testified that she and Appellant exchanged letters and that he was "like a brother" to her also (R 1520).

Mr. Willie Evans then testified that he had employed Appellant as a concrete finisher (R 1523). Appellant was "a hard worker" who progressed through his business (R 1523 - 1524). Mr. Evans requested that Appellant be given a life sentence, and expressed his love for him (R 1524).

Finally, Ms. Jane Lovette's mother, Ruth Turner, testified that she first met Appellant when she found him sleeping in a hallway (R 1527). She took him home and he became "part of the family" (R 1527). She stated that she "loved him like one of our own younguns" and asked that his life be spared (R 1527).

Over Appellant's objections, the Court allowed the State to admit his jail photo I.D. card, his photo at the time of his arrest, and a photo found in his cell in North Carolina (R 1548 -1549).

After argument of counsel, the Court instructed the jury on seven aggravating factors:

- 1. Crime committed while under sentence of imprisonment;
- Prior violent felony;
- Crime committed while engaged in commission of or flight from a robbery, sexual battery, and/or kidnapping;
- 4. Crime committed to avoid arrest;
- 5. Crime committed for financial gain;

- Crime was especially wicked, evil, atrocious or cruel;
- Crime was cold, calculated, and premeditated (R 1595
 - 1597).

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