IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 78,202

FILED SED J. WHITE

MAR 8 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

MICHAEL G. LOVETTE,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR INDIAN RIVER COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA A. TERENZIO
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 656879
1655 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd.
Suite 300
West Palm Beach, FL 33401-2299
Telephone: (407) 688-7759

Counsel for Appellee

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

In closing argument, defense attorney argued that the murders were a consequence of the co-defendants fear the victims would identify him. (R 1366). Ironically, appellant could also be identified as he remained and participated in the robbery and at the very least remained during commission of the rape.

To the extent that appellant claims that the murders were pursuant to the alleged independent act of the subsequent sexual assault, any error must be considered harmless, given that the evidence would still establish felony murder regarding the robbery and kidnapping. Sochor v. State, 580 So. 2d 595, 601-602 (Fla. 1991), remanded on other grounds, 504 U.S. __, 119 L. Ed. 2d 326, 112 S. Ct. __ (1992).

ISSUE IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN GIVING AN INSTRUCTION ON FLIGHT AS THAT WAS THE STATE OF THE LAW AT THE TIME OF TRIAL, IN THE ALTERNATIVE ANY ERROR TO DO SO WAS HARMLESS ERROR

Appellee concedes that if this Court applies <u>Fenelon v. State</u>, 594 So. 2d 292 (Fla. 1992) to the instant case, ⁵ the trial court erred in giving the instruction. Appellee maintains however, that appellant is still not entitled to relief as any error must be deemed harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v. DiGuillio</u>, 491 So. 2d 1192 (Fla. 1989); <u>Fenelon</u>.

Appellant claims that where the accused does not deny identity, the error is not harmless. In <u>Fenelon</u>, identity was not an issue, yet this Court found the error to be harmless.

Id. In the instant case, identity is not an issue. His defense at trial was that the murders were committed by his co-defendant, Wyatt without appellant's participation or prior knowledge. However appellant's defense does not undermine the evidence to establish felony murder. Appellant, admitted he entered the Domino's restaurant with a gun and the intent to commit a robbery. He held a gun on the store manager while his co-

Appellee maintains that <u>Fenelon</u> should not be given retroactive application. There is no equity to the state if a trial court follows the law as it existed at the time of trial. Clearly, the trial court gave the instruction with explicit reliance on case law from this Court. (R 1238). To force the state to incur the expense of a new trial based on error that was non existent at the time of trial does nothing to promote finality, enhance the likelihood that subsequent rulings will be accurate, nor does it foster any confidence in the criminal justice system as a whole.

Appellant and Wyatt were in the store for approximately thirty minutes. He admits to holding a gun on the manager while the manager opened the safe. The manager was then brought to the office to locate more money. Eventually all three victims were executed. Consequently, in light of the evidence supporting appellant's guilt of felony murder, the giving of the flight instruction was harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt.

ISSUE V

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GRANT APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGEMENT OF ACQUITTAL AS TO PREMEDITATED MURDER

Appellant claims that he cannot be convicted of premeditated murder based on the principal theory because he did not intend for the victims to be murdered. The state argued that the evidence demonstrates that the victims were killed to avoid detection, and the execution style murders were committed at close range. (R 1276). In order to be convicted of murder under a principal theory appellant must have intended that the murders take place and must commit an act to assist the other person in committing the crime. State v. Dene, 533 So. 2d 265, 266 (Fla. 1988); Staten v. State, 519 So. 2d 622, 624 (Fla. 1988).

Appellant relies on <u>Van Poyck v. State</u>, 564 So. 2d 1066 (Fla. 1990) and <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 575 So. 2d 181 (Fla. 1991) to establish his claim. Both of those cases are distinguishable. In the case <u>sub judice</u>, the entire criminal episode took at least thirty minutes to complete. (R 413, 439, 440, 611). Appellant held a gun to Mr. Edwards as Wyatt did the same to the other two victims. All three victims were moved about the store to effectuate the robbery, sexual battery and murders. (R 1105). The killings were done at close range, execution style. (R 647-648, 651, 665, 674). Consequently unlike the facts in <u>Jackson</u>, these murders were not the result of any reflexive action taken after any resistance from the victim. Furthermore, unlike the

Van Poyck, appellant's whereabouts is situation in He admits to being in the office area of the store, question. approximately fifteen feet from where the sexual battery and murders took place. (R 1131-1132, 1134-1135, 1138-1140, 1164). The physical evidence demonstrates that a person standing in that area, has a clear view of the rest of the store. (R 478. The evidence also demonstrates that the robbery of the safe could have taken fifteen minutes at most given that the safe was on a time delay. (R 611). After the robbery of the safe, appellant brought Edwards back to the office. Since that robbery occurred first, appellant had at least another fifteen minutes to participate or facilitate in the remainder of the crimes. stated elsewhere, from the office one is aware of what else is transpiring in that area. Given appellant's testimony that the shots were fired in succession, all the victims were executed at the same time, and after completion of all the other crimes. Given the nature of the crimes, especially the sexual battery, one person could not have committed these crimes without the help of a second person. C.L.A. v. State, 478 So. 2d 872 (Fla. 3rd DCA Appellant claims that Wyatt shot the victims to avoid Logic dictates that appellant's identity was equally visible to the victims, consequently their murders ensured that appellant's identity would also not be revealed. To that end appellant disposed of the murder weapon and participated in the burning of car. (1111-1113).

In summary, despite appellant's self serving statements to the contrary, the physical evidence establishes that appellant was a principal to the triple murders.

In any event even if there was not sufficient evidence to convict appellant as a principal, there was sufficient evidence to convict him of felony murder. Appellant's concedes that he went in the store armed with the intent to rob. He concedes that he did rob Mr. Edwards. (R 1105). Appellant wore a Domino's pizza shirt during the robbery to facilitate the successful completion of the crime. (R 1159-1162). There was sufficient of felony murder to uphold appellant's conviction. Hough v. State, 448 So. 2d 628, 629 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984); State v. Aguliar, 418 So. 2d 245, 246 (Fla. 1982); Howard v. State, 473 So. 2d 841 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985).

ISSUE VI

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGEMENT OF ACQUITTAL OF THE SEXUAL BATTERY CHARGE

Appellant claims that he was not aware of Wyatt's intent to commit a sexual battery on Mrs. Edwards. Irrespective of Dr. Berland's testimony, appellant admitted to the police that he heard Mrs. Edwards moaning when he was up front with Mr. Edwards. (R 1106). Furthermore, he also admits to being in the area where the sexual battery took place, thereby negating his claim that he was not aware of what was happening. (R 1180). Finally Wyatt could not have committed the sexual battery without appellant's help. Although Bornoosh was locked in the bathroom, Mr. Edwards was with appellant being forced to open the safe and locate money from the office. Mr. Edwards's blood was found in Without Mr. Edwards confinement, Wyatt could not the office. have committed the sexual battery upon his wife. Appellant's participation/facilitation demonstrates his intent to commit the crime, and aid his co-defendant in its commission. Howard v. State, 473 So. 2d 841 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985).

ISSUE VII

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GRANT APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGEMENT OF ACQUITTAL REGARDING THE ROBBERY OF THE VICTIM'S SHIRT

Appellant claims that he was unaware that Bornoosh's shirt was taken by force. Appellant was aware that Bornoosh was taken by gunpoint to the back of the store. (R 1159-1162). Shortly thereafter, appellant was handed Bornoosh's shirt. Common sense and logic dictates that Bornoosh was forced to take off his shirt. Appellant took the shirt and put it on to facilitate the robbery. He left with the store still wearing it. (R 990-998). There was sufficient evidence that appellant was aware of the forced taking and benefitted from it by wearing same to effectuate the robbery. Robbins v.State, 581 So. 2d 581 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991).

ISSUE VIII

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGEMENT OF ACQUITTAL REGARDING THE KIDNAPPING OF MRS. EDWARDS AND MATTHEW BORNOOSH

Appellant claims that he did not know ahead of time of Wyatt's intent to kidnap Mrs. Edwards and Mr. Bornoosh nor did he do any act in furtherance of those crimes. The facts contradict appellant's contention.

Appellant admitted that his intention was to rob the pizza store when he went in there armed. Wyatt was also armed. He kidnapped Mr. Edwards and forced him to open the safe, while Wyatt kidnapped the other two victims. Appellant and his codefendant were required to control all three victims in order to successfully complete their intended goal of robbery. Appellant is equally guilty for the kidnapping of Bornoosh and Mrs. Edwards under a principal theory. Howard v. State, 473 So. 2d 841 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985). The asportation of Mrs. Edwards and Bornoosh to the back of the store was done to avoid detection of the robbery. The movements were not incidental to the subsequent sexual battery or robbery, they were clearly done to facilitate those offenses. Faison v. State, 426 So. 2d 963 (Fla. 1983). Sochor v. State, 580 So. 2d 595 (1991) remanded on other grounds, 504 U.S. __, 119 L. Ed. 2d 326, 112 S. Ct. __ (1992).

ISSUE IX

THE ALLEGED INADMISSIBLE TESTIMONY DR. BERLAND AND THE CONVICTIONS COUNTS DISCUSSED IN ISSUES V THROUGH VIII DID NOT DEPRIVE APPELLANT OF A FAIR SENTENCING HEARING

Appellant claims that the testimony of Dr. Berland during the guilt phase rendered his sentencing hearing unfair. Appellant's reliance on Castro v. State, 547 So. 2d 111 (Fla. 1989) is to no avail as the facts of the case sub judice are distinguishable. The evidence ruled inadmissible at the guilt phase related to collateral crime evidence. Castro. Such evidence negated the entire case for mitigation. Id at 116. the instant case, appellant's case for mitigation centered on the fact that he did not actually commit the sexual battery nor did he actually pull the trigger. The state conceded both of those points from the beginning, consequently appellant's theory/theme of mitigation was not negated or somehow rebutted by Berland's testimony. The jury was well aware of the fact that appellant heard moaning by Mrs. Edwards while she was in the backroom, as he stated as such to the police, consequently he was aware that she was in some type of distress. Whether he actually saw her naked as testified to by Berland is not sufficiently prejudicial enough to warrant reversal οf his sentence. Likewise, appellant's statement to Berland that he saw appellant shoot the victims is also not sufficiently prejudicial as it does not negate his claim that he never intended to murder the victims nor does it negate his claim that he was unaware of Wyatt's plan to do so before hand.

In applying a harmless error analysis based on a violation of Estelle v. Smith, 451 U.S. 454, 101 S. Ct. 1866, 68 L. Ed. 2d 359 (1981), this Court noted the difference between the death penalty statutes of Florida and Texas. In Texas, the jury is required to answer three questions, an affirmative response to all three will result in a sentence of death. Hargrave v. State, So. 2d 713, 714 n. 2 (Fla. 1983). The essence of the inadmissible testimony in Smith provided the basis for affirmative answer to one of the three questions. Florida's statute is completely different. The substance of Berland's testimony does not possess the same impact as that in Smith. United States Supreme Court has adopted a similar analysis in its harmless error analysis regarding this claim. In Satterwhite v. Texas, 486 U.S. 249, 100 L. Ed. 2d 284, 108 S. Ct. 1792 (1988) the Court recognized the impact of such testimony in the death penalty scheme of Texas. Satterwhite, 486 U.S. at 258-259. to the nature of the testimony and its direct relevance to one of the questions to be answered by the jury, any error could not be considered harmless. Furthermore there was no specific reference to or reliance on Berland's testimony, by the state closing argument as there was in Satterwhite, 486 U.S. at 260. (R 1552-1585). Finally the substance of the testimony Satterwhite does not compare to what was presented in the instant

The nature and substance of the inadmissible testimony in <u>Smith</u> is of the same ilk as the testimony in <u>Satterwhite</u>. Ironically the expert in both was the same, Dr. Grigson.

case. In <u>Satterwhite</u> the expert emphatically that the defendant was a sociopath, a continuing threat to society, he was beyond the reach of psychiatric rehabilitation" and on a scale from 1 to 10, the defendant was "ten plus". <u>Id</u> at 486 U.S. 259-260.

In the instant case, Berland stated that he heard the wife pled with the co-defendant, he went back there and saw her naked. (R 1231). He then stated that appellant saw the co-defendant aim the gun and fire four shots. (R 1232). Appellant's admissible statements to the police indicate that he heard Mrs. Edwards moaning and when the co-defendant was in the backroom with the victims, he heard four shots. The only substantive difference is whether appellant saw and heard the shots or just heard the shots. That difference does not warrant a reversal of appellant's death sentence.

The fact that the jury was instructed upon and appellant was convicted as a principal for the various offenses regarding Mrs. Edwards and Matthew Bornoosh does not bolster

⁷ The fact that the jury recommended death by a vote of seven to five is not relevant in a harmless error analysis.

Analysis of a reasonable probability of a different result should not vary according to the number of jurors voting for the death penalty. "A defendant has no entitlement to the luck of a lawless decision maker, even if a lawless decision cannot be reviewed. The assessment of prejudice should proceed on the assumption that the decision maker is reasonably, conscientiously, and impartially applying the standards that govern the decision. It should not depend on the idiosyncracies of the particular decision maker, such as unusual propensities toward harshness or leniency." Bertolloti v. Dugger, 883 F. 2d 1503, 1519 n. 12 (11th Cir. 1989), quoting from Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 695, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674, 698, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984)

appellant's claim. The jury was properly instructed on various crimes based on the evidence presented. None of the evidence considered by the jury was inadmissible, nor does appellant make such an allegation. As with penalty phase instructions, if evidence is presented, relevant instructions should be given regardless of the fact that sufficient evidence may or may not exist. Haliburton v.State, 561 So. 2d; Stewart v. State, Bowden v. State. Unlike the situation in Jones v. State, 569 So. 2d the jury was not improperly instructed on the law. Appellant has failed to establish any harmful error.

ISSUE X

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT PERMIT THE INTRODUCTION OF ANY IMPROPER EVIDENCE DURING THE SENTENCING PHASE

Appellant claims that the trial court erred in failing to sustain an objection regarding a statement made by a during penalty phase testimony. state witness During testimony of Captain DuBose, the state asked him to explain how and why they were able to get a possible lead on the suspects. (R 1465). In response, the officer stated that they were not looking for amateurs. (R 1465-1466). The statement was made to establish why the police decided to obtain prison releases and escapes from various states. (R 1466). Those prison release records were introduced without objection. (R 1468). also received information regarding appellant's escape status. (R 1468-1470). Since appellant's prior record, including his escape status is relevant information to establish various aggravating circumstances, there can be no error regarding an officer's characterization of appellant as not being an amateur. Waterhouse v. State, 596 So. 2d 1008 (Fla. 1992). To the extent that there was error, it must be considered harmless as the jury was aware of appellant's past criminal behavior. State v. DiGuillio, 491 So. 2d 1191 (Fla. 1989); Johnston v. State, 497 So. 2d 863, 868 (Fla. 1986); Gunsby v. State, 574 So. 2d (Fla. 1991).

Also without merit is appellants claim that the trial court erred in allowing in to evidence three rather recent

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